
 
 

 

August 16, 2023 
 
Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing 
777 Bay Street, 17th floor 
Toronto, Ontario M7A 2J3 
 
RE:   ERO 019-7195 

Comments on Durham Region Official Plan 
Osler Farm - 0 Ninth Concession Rd, Part of Lot 6, Concession 9, Pickering 

  TBG File: 21808 
 
SUBJECT SITE 
The Biglieri Group Ltd. (“TBG”) represents Fourteen Estates, owner of ‘Osler Farm’, which is located west 
of the Hamlet of Balsam on Ninth Concession Road (“Subject Site”). The Subject Site is legally described 
as Con 9 Pt Lot 6 Now 40R12698 Part 1. The Subject Site is approximately 49 hectares in size, with 400m 
of frontage along Ninth Concession Road, and has a lot depth of approximately 1200m. The Subject Site 
is currently designated in the in force Durham Region Official Plan, 2020 Office Consolidation, as Major 
Open Space, Prime Agricultural Areas, and Oak Ridges Moraine Areas (see Figure 1). 

Figure 1. Current Official Plan Designation 

 

  



 
 

DRAFT OFFICIAL PLAN DESIGNATION 
The Regionally adopted Envision Durham Official Plan designates the Subject Site as Major Open Space, 
Oak Ridges Moraine, and Prime Agricultural Area as seen in Figure 2.  

Figure 2.   

 

PREVIOUS CORRESPONDENCES & COMMENTS  

Clark Consulting Services submitted an Agricultural Land Report (the “ALR”) to the Region of Durham in 
February of 2022 to inform the Envision Durham process (see Appendix A). The Report concluded that 
agricultural uses are not predominant in the area west of Balsam and north of Regional Road 5 (which are 
dominated by Natural Area lands). Ultimately, the report concludes that the Subject Site does not meet 
the definition of Prime Agricultural Land per the PPS and is not part of the Agricultural System, as defined 
by the PPS.  

Regional Staff did not provide a response to these materials and it does not appear that they were 
considered in the determination of the Prime Agricultural Area designation as is being proposed. In 
particular, the June 7, 2022 “Envision Durham – Implementation of the Provincial Agricultural System” 
report (“Envision Durham Report”) appears to have ignored these materials. Line 4.6 of the Envision 
Durham Report outlines the manner in which the Region undertook its assessment of the Agricultural 
System. Line 4.6 does not list a review of reports and commentary received form the public as a 
consideration. Further, line 4.2 and 4.3 of the Envision Durham Report give the impression that the 
municipal review was segmented to an exclusive review of, “Areas currently designated as Major Open 
Space Areas in the ROP have been identified by the Province as Prime Agricultural Areas, or as Candidate 
Areas that could either become Prime Agricultural Areas or remain as Major Open Space Areas”. This 
statement suggests that the Region did not turn its mind to assessing existing Regional Prime Agricultural 
Areas to determine if whether they are appropriately designated or if they should be redesignated.   

  



 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

It is our recommendation that the adopted Official Plan be amended prior to approval by the Minster and 
that the portions of the Subject Site currently designated Prime Agriculture Area be redesignated Major 
Open Space.  

The current Envision Durham Municipal Comprehensive Review process is the appropriate time to make 
such an amendment. According to the Growth Plan for the Greater Golden Horseshoe (“Growth Plan”) 
policy 4.2.6.9:  

“Upper- and single-tier municipalities may refine provincial mapping of the agricultural land base 
at the time of initial implementation in their official plans, based on implementation procedures 
issued by the Province. ... After provincial mapping of the agricultural land base has been 
implemented in official plans, further refinements may only occur through a municipal 
comprehensive review.”  

The ongoing Municipal Comprehensive Review represents an important opportunity to review the Subject 
Site, and designate it appropriately based on the current and historic use patterns of the Subject Site and 
surrounding lands.  Any opportunity for redesignation following the conclusion of this process will not be 
readily available. 

To provide context and substance to our recommendation, we again refer Regional staff to the previously 
submitted ALR which outlines the reasons for this recommendation. The ALR prepared by Clark Consulting 
Services identified that most of the Subject Site is heavily treed and includes significant woodlands, wet 
areas and dramatic slopes, making it less suited for appropriate agricultural conditions. Additionally, the 
neighbouring lands north of Regional Road 5 do not have agricultural uses as their predominant use, and 
as such the Subject Site does not fit the definition of Prime Agricultural Area by being in a location where 
there is a local concentration of farms with ongoing agricultural activities.  

It is important to note that the Prime Agricultural Area designation will constrain permitted uses on the 
Subject Site (in comparison to the Major Open Space designation). Accordingly, the Prime Agricultural 
Area designation should not be maintained on lands which cannot realistically be used for the 
agriculture purposes permitted in the designation. To do so would not represent good planning and 
would not meet the intention of the applicable Provincial policies and plans.   

As such, it is our professional recommendation that the portions of the Subject Site designated as Prime 
Agricultural Areas on Map 1 of the adopted Official Plan be re-designated to Major Open Space. This will 
allow those portions of the lands to align with the designation of the majority of the Subject Site. The 
Major Open Space designation will allow for a broader range of uses on the Site which better reflects the 
existing uses and physical realities of the Subject Site.  

Alternatively, TBG’s client would also support designation of the Site as part of the Balsam Hamlets 
designation.  

 

  



 
 

Should you have any questions or require any additional information, please contact the undersigned at 
your earliest convenience. 

Respectfully, 
THE BIGLIERI GROUP LTD. 

 

 

 

 

Michael Testaguzza, MCIP, RPP    Cameron McCoy, MPI 
Partner       Junior Planner 

  



 
 

APPENDIX 1 
 

AGRICULTURAL LAND REPORT PREPARED BY CLARK CONSULTING SERVICES 
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